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5. Boundary Description 
 
While the current mailing address for the proposed designation is 1232 Tasker Street, the 
address stated in the deed for this property and per OPA is 1601 S. 13th Street.  
 
The boundary description of the proposed designation (Figure 1) is thus as follows: 
 

 
Figure 1. Aerial image of 1232 Tasker Street, showing the outline of “Premises ‘A’” that is described in the deed for 

1601 S. 13th Street (Google Maps, left, and the Philadelphia Atlas interface, right). 
 
 
ALL THAT CERTAIN lot or piece of ground with the buildings and improvements thereon 
erected, SITUATE at the Southeast corner of 13th and Tasker Streets in the 39th (formerly part of 
the 26th) Ward of the City of Philadelphia. 
 
CONTAINING in front or breadth on the said 13th Street Sixty-four feet and extending in length 
or depth Eastward of that width along the South side of Tasker Street One hundred feet to a 
three feet wide alley leading into and from the said Tasker Street. 
 
BOUNDED Northward by the said Tasker Street, Southward by ground now or late of Anthony J. 
Drexel, East by the said three feet wide alley and Westward by the said 13th Street.  
 
BEING the Southeast corner of 13th and Tasker Street.  
 
BEING the same premises which The Reformed Episcopal Church of the Reconciliation of 
Philadelphia by Indenture date the 8th day of September A.D. 1920 and recorded at Philadelphia 
in the Office for the Recording of Deeds in and for the County of Philadelphia on 22nd day of 
September A.D. 1920 in Deed Book JMH 939 page 229 etc., granted and conveyed unto the 
Trustees of the Philadelphia Baptist City Missions, in fee.1   
                                                      
1 City of Philadelphia, Department of Records. Tax Account No.: 12s13-195-308. OPA Account #771267000. 25 April 
1968. Accessed 6 December 2019.  
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6. Physical Description 
 

 
Figure 2. Oblique aerial image looking in the southeasterly direction of 1232 Tasker Street, currently in use as St. 

John’s Baptist Church (Google Earth). 
 
St. John’s Baptist Church is a modest, two-story, gable-roofed Romanesque church and chapel 
complex located at the southeast corner of S. 13th Street and Tasker Street, near the border of 
the Passyunk Square neighborhood of South Philadelphia (Figure 2). The primary façade of the 
stone and brick building, including the main entrance to the nave and the Italianate campanile 
above it, faces westwards onto S. 13th Street. This is the oldest part of the complex; it was 
designed by the architect Samuel Hall Day in 1892 for The Church of the Reconciliation, an 
Episcopalian congregation led by Rev. F.H. Reynolds that sought to evangelize to the then-
growing population of European immigrants in South Philadelphia.2 The eastern side of the 

                                                      
2 “Samuel Hall Day, architect, 925 Chestnut Street, some time since completed plans for a new church for the 
congregation of the Church of the Reconciliation, to be erected at Thirteenth and Tasker Streets, southeast corner, 
and has awarded the contracts for the work to George L. Harvey, the carpentry, and George Rowe, the masonry. 
Work will begin at once upon the foundations. The structure is to be of Leiperville and Indiana, stone and 
Pompeian brick, red tile roof. It will cost about $12,000.” “Architect Notes.,” Real Estate Record and Builders’ 
Guide, December 23, 1891, sec. Vol. VI., No. 51, p. i. “The congregation of the Church of the Reconciliation, now 
nearly 300 strong, was organized fifteen years ago, worshipped for about two years in halls, and finally secured a 
handsome but small chapel adjoining the present church which was begun about a year ago. It is of the 
Romanesque style of architecture, of Indiana limestone with buff trimmings. The interior wood-work in handsome 
effects is of pine and oak. The roof is of Spanish tiles, making a pretty feature. The seating accommodation, 
including a big gallery, is 550. There are three entrances through a handsome loggio [sic] adorned with mosaic 
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northern façade of the church, including the chapel and Sunday school, was designed by 
Charles E. Oelschlager and constructed in 1899 as an extension to the building’s original 
program.3 Neither the southern-facing nor the eastern-facing facades, accessible via alleyways, 
are visible to public right-of-way. Since 1921, when The Baptist Union of Philadelphia bought 
this property, the building has been home to St. John’s Baptist Church. Over the last century, 
the custodians of the building have made minor alterations to the façade, including the 
replacement of the original red tile roof with asphalt shingles, the replacement of the windows 
and window grates, the replacement of the original main entryway construction and chapel 
entryway construction with wooden infill, the replacement of what was likely a copper roof for 
the campanile with a green, patina-colored vinyl material, and the sealing of some basement 
windows with concrete.  
 
 
  

                                                      
tiles, above which rises a splendid spire. The furnishings were made principally by the young people’s organizations 
of the church. The architect was Samuel H. Day, G.L. Harvey superintending the construction.” “Dedicated to God 
and His Worship,” The Philadelphia Inquirer, October 24, 1892, America’s Historical Newspapers Online. 
3 “Architect Charles E. Oelschlager has completed plans and specifications and will take estimates this week for a 
new Sunday-school building for the Reformed Church of the Reconciliation, to be built at Thirteenth and Tasker 
streets. The new building will be two stories and a basement in height. The basement will be used for a drill room 
and gymnasium; the first floor will contain a main school, infant room, library, reception room and class room; the 
second floor class rooms and a church parlor. The cost will be about $10,000. Steam heat, electric lighting, leaded 
glass, and all the latest improvements will be installed.” “Real Estate News,” The Philadelphia Inquirer, March 28, 
1899, 11. 
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6-1. Church (1892) 
 

 
Figure 3. West (principal) elevation of The Reformed Episcopal Church, now in use as St. John’s Baptist Church 

[Kevin Block, November 2019]. 
 
The building’s western façade (Figure 3) runs along S. 13th Street. The asymmetrical 
composition of the Leiperville stone façade, which is characteristic of Picturesque or 
“Romantic” styles like the Romanesque and the Italianate, includes three dominant masses: the 
campanile tower, the main entrance block, and the gable-end of the church that is centered on 
a tri-partite bay flanked by two slit windows. A band of vertically-laid Roman bricks separates 
the upper section of the façade from the lower section. Rising from the ground-up of the 
triangular gable-end, there are three pairs of square basement windows, each separated by a 
mullion of Indiana stone. The span of each window is supported by a heavy lintel of Indiana 
stone. Each of these paired windows is covered by spear-point iron window bars that are 
painted black. Above the basement windows are three windows divided into four sections by 
decorative cross-shaped mullions of Indiana stone. Above these middle windows is a triad of 
arched stained glass windows (Figure 4) that are protected by metal grating. The center window 
of the triad is taller than the latter two. Each of these three windows is capped by a semi-
circular arch of Roman brick, which continues on either side as the belt course. Above the triad 
of arched windows is a thin arched attic window. The roofline of the gable end includes 
decorative brickwork that creates through color and material contrast the appearance of a 
crow-stepped gable roofline (also known as “corbie gable,” i.e. corbelled gable). The roofline 



St. John’s Baptist Church 
1601 S. 13th St, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 

Nomination to the Philadelphia Register of Historic Places 
December 2019 

Page 6 of 35 
 

converges on a false chimney stack, which features an ornamental panel of a floriated cherub 
motif carved in stone (Figure 6). There is a thin stone cornice at the edge of the roofline.  
 
The portal to the main entrance to the church is on the northern side of the western (principal) 
façade, beneath a semi-circular arch of Roman brick (Figure 6). Granite stairs with iron handrails 
lead to a paneled wooden doorway of contemporary materials and construction. On the 
northern edge of the western façade is a cornerstone with the year of construction, 1892, 
inscribed onto it (Figure 6). To the right of the entrance is one of the two slit windows on the 
western façade that is capped by a semi-circular arch of Roman brick.   
 
The campanile, the most visually prominent part of the building, rises two stories above the 
main entrance and features a pointed, hipped wooden roof covered in green vinyl and wide, 
overhanging eaves. For pedestrians walking along either Tasker or S. 13th Street, the campanile 
serves as a visual landmark since it is more than a story taller than the original two-story 
building stock of the row home neighborhood. On the second story of the campanile, breaking 
the red belt of Roman brick that continues on the opposite side, there is an arched window. 
Above it, there is a semi-circular arch of Roman brick and then a pair of arched, slatted bell-
openings capped by two arches of Roman brick. Castellated stonework marks the top of the 
campanile.   
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Figure 4. The Roman brick arches and banding on the western (principal) façade, as well as the stepped gable 

ornamental brickwork [Kevin Block, November 2019]. 
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Figure 5. The western (principal) façade of the campanile. Note the play of daytime light on the rusticated 

Leiperville stonework [Kevin Block, November 2019].   
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Figure 6. Details of the west (principal) façade of St. John’s Baptist Church [Kevin Block, November 2019]. 
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6-2. Chapel and Sunday School (1899) 
 

 
Figure 7. Northern façade of St. John’s Baptist Church, designed by Charles E. Oelschlager in 1899 [Kevin Block, 

November 2019]. 
 
 
Oelschlager’s 1899 cross-gable, forty-foot-long addition to The Reformed Episcopal Church of 
the Reconciliation picks up several of the design motifs found on Day’s 1892 western façade, 
including the use of semi-circular brick arches (shorter than on the western façade), heavy 
stone lintels, a castellated cornice line, and a faux stepped-gable roofline of decorative brick 
that converges to a false chimney stack. There is no decorative carving on the false chimney 
stack.  
 
Oelschlager composed the façade of the addition in five bays (Figure 7). The recessed exterior 
bays (#1 and #5), from the ground-up, include basement windows covered with iron grills 
beneath a stone lintel and rectangular window openings on the first and second floor with 
stone lintels above and below each opening. On the edge of Bay #1, there is a cornerstone with 
the date “1899” inscribed onto it (Figure 9). Bays #2 and #4 of the façade likewise include iron-
barred basement windows and rectangular window openings with lintels above and below 
them. On the second story of the central three bays there is a triad of arched window openings, 

1  2  3  4  5 
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protected by more contemporary metal grates, echoing the triad on the western façade, except 
they are not filled with stained glass. 
 
Oelschlager’s entrance to the nursery for St. John’s (Figure 9) repeats in compressed form the 
same façade motifs found on Day’s western façade and the northern façade extension to the 
original building, while also serving to compositionally balance the mass of the loggia. The 
orange in-fill door is a replacement of the original.   
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Figure 8. Northern façade of St. John’s Baptist Church [Google Maps, November 2019].   



St. John’s Baptist Church 
1601 S. 13th St, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 

Nomination to the Philadelphia Register of Historic Places 
December 2019 

Page 13 of 35 
 

 

 
Figure 9. Details of the northern façade of St. John’s Baptist Church [Kevin Block, November 2019]. 
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Figure 10. Decorative iron gate and mosaic tiling on the northern façade of St. John’s Baptist Church. The loggia 

was part of Day’s original design [Kevin Block, November 2019]. 
 

 
Figure 11. Visible deterioration of the brick arch on the underside of the northern façade’s loggia [Kevin Block, 

November 2019].   
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7.  Statement of Significance 
 
The building currently occupied by St. John’s Baptist Church has significant character, interest, 
and value as part of the development of South Philadelphia’s ethnic and religious diversity, 
particularly the Italian Protestant community but also the city’s Southeast Asian immigrant 
community.  

In addition to exemplifying the cultural and social heritage of these communities, St. 
John’s Baptist Church also merits nomination on aesthetic grounds. The building was the work 
of two architects. First, Samuel Hall Day, a Philadelphia architect who designed the original 
structure in 1892. And second, Charles Oelschlager, who designed the extension to the building 
in 1899, one of many architectural commissions that he completed in Philadelphia around the 
turn of the century. Thanks to Day’s original design and Oelschlager’s sensitive extension, the 
building, although modest in decorative terms, embodies distinguishing characteristics of both 
the Romanesque Revival and the Italianate styles.  
 
The property therefore meets the following criteria for listing on the Philadelphia Register of 
Historic Places as established in the Philadelphia Historic Preservation Ordinance §14-1004 (1): 
 

d) Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style or engineering 
specimen; 

e) Is the work of a designer, architect, landscape architect or designer, or engineer 
whose work has significantly influenced the historical, architectural, economic, 
social, or cultural development of the City, Commonwealth or Nation; 

j) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the 
community.   
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7-1.  Urbanizing the Italianate, Abstracting the Romanesque  
  

Criterion D: Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style or 
engineering specimen. 
 
Criterion E: Is the work of a designer, architect, landscape architect or designer, or 
engineer whose work has significantly influenced the historical, architectural, economic, 
social, or cultural development of the City, Commonwealth or Nation.  

 
Construction notices for Day’s Church of the Reconciliation describe the building simply as 
“Romanesque,” but in truth the building, with its characteristically Italianate campanile, is 
something of a stylistic hybrid. The semi-circular round arches, brick beltcourse, heavy masonry 
massing, and asymmetrical composition of the facade clearly mark Day’s design as Romanesque 
Revival. In most cases, however, Romanesque Revival buildings constructed later in the 
nineteenth century, especially those associated with Henry Hobson Richardson and his 
followers, feature cylindrical towers and conical roofs. The square campanile of the Church of 
the Reconciliation harkens back to an earlier phase of the Romanesque Revival in the United 
States that began with James Renwick’s 1846 design for the Smithsonian Institution, which also 
features a square campanile with a steep, hipped-roof.4  
 
One reasonable explanation for the stylistic hybridity found in Day’s design is that he associated 
the Italianate—a Picturesque, primarily domestic architectural style that originated in England 
in the 1830s—with the Italian immigrants that his clients, Rev. F.H. Reynolds and the 
Episcopalian Diocese of Philadelphia, hoped to convert. The association reflected that 
simplistic, quintessentially nineteenth-century equation of style with culture: Italianate for the 
Italians, in other words. Perhaps Day’s architectural design would have seemed familiar or 
“fitting” to potential converts, but there is no historical evidence available to support such 
conjecture. The more likely explanation is that the association of architectural style with an 
immigrant culture seemed fitting to Day. The Romanesque, meanwhile, had long been 
associated with Protestantism, whereas nineteenth-century American architects often gave 
Catholic churches classical forms.5   
 
In Philadelphia, the Italianate style was closely associated with Samuel Sloan, the designer of 
Woodland Terrace (constructed in 1861) and several other Italianate homes on Pine Street 
                                                      
4 Carroll L. V. Meeks, “Romanesque Before Richardson in the United States,” The Art Bulletin 35, no. 1 (1953): 17–
33, https://doi.org/10.2307/3047457; Kathleen Curran, The Romanesque Revival: Religion, Politics, and 
Transnational Exchange (University Park, Pennsylvania: Penn State University Press, 2003). 
5 Meeks suggests that there was a liturgical explanation for the usage of the round-arch style in Congregationalist, 
Methodist, Unitarian, Presbyterian, and other Protestant churches in Great Britain and the United States. “Their 
type of service, as in the Colonial days, deliberately eschewed altars, chancels, and pews tucked away in the 
shadow, behind a stately column. They were unmoved by the Camdensians and aimed simply to get the largest 
number of sitting possible in clear view and hearing of the axial pulpit. Galleries were welcome; side-aisles, 
chapels, apses, chancels were not.” “Romanesque Before Richardson in the United States,” 18.  
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(between 40th and 41st” in the “streetcar suburb” of West Philadelphia).6 Sloan followed 
apostles of taste like Andrew Jackson Downing, the author of The Architecture of Country 
Houses (1850), in trying to popularize the Italianate as a rustic, “republican” style that was 
suitable for Americans.7 In widely-circulated texts like The Model Architecture (1851-53), City 
and Suburban Architecture (1859), and Sloan’s Homestead Architecture (1861). For example, 
one print from Sloan’s Homestead Architecture (Figure 12) shows a “Villa in the Italian Style.” As 
in Day’s façade design for the Church of the Reconciliation, the design for this villa features a 
square campanile tower with hipped roof, prominent semi-circular lintels above arched 
windows, and triads of windows on the upper stories. Sloan’s popularization of the Italianate 
villa around midcentury, as well as the reappearance of an older Romanesque Revival style in 
local projects like Charles M. Burns’ Protestant Episcopal Church of the Saviour (1889), are the 
likely sources of Day’s hybrid design. Having grown up in Philadelphia and graduated from the 
University of Pennsylvania’s Towne Scientific School in 1879, Day would have been familiar with 
both stylistic vocabularies.8  
 
The Church of Reconciliation was one of the few projects that Day completed as a solo 
practitioner. Between 1886 and 1891, he worked in partnership with Edward Hurst Brown in 
the residential architecture firm of Brown & Day, which produced several Queen Anne homes in 
Delaware County. In 1892, Day partnered with H. Crawford Coates, Jr., a fellow graduate of the 
University of Pennsylvania, in the architecture firm of Day & Coates. With Coates, Day worked 
on a more diverse collection of projects, including factories, hotels, the Belmont Cricket Club, 
an office building, and a casino. In the period after Day’s partnership with Brown ended and 
before his partnership with Coates, Jr. began, Day received the commission for the Church of 
the Reconciliation and completed his design. At that point in his career, it was his first non-
residential commission.9  
 
What is most notable about the design for the Church of the Reconciliation are the “bushy-
eyebrow” semi-circular arches of Roman brick, which appear almost like generic abstractions of 
the Romanesque Revival. They are the work of an architect exaggerating stylistic markers for 
the sake of visual clarity (or possibly budget constraints) rather than using a more elaborate 
decorative program. A similar, historically coincident usage of the round arch can be seen at 
Sacred Heart Parochial School (1892-3, Figure 14), where the arches almost seem to be drawn 
onto the façade of the building. Borrowing the round-arch in such a superficial manner was not 
uncommon for American architects in the late nineteenth century, but Day’s combination of 
                                                      
6 National Register of Historic Places, West Philadelphia Streetcar Suburb Historic District, Philadelphia 
Pennsylvania, National Register #97001669. See also Harold N. Cooledge Jr, Samuel Sloan Architect of Philadelphia 
1815-1884 (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1986). 
7 W. Barksdale Maynard, Architecture in the United States, 1800-1850, 1st edition (New Haven: Yale University 
Press, 2002); David Schuyler, Apostle of Taste: Andrew Jackson Downing, 1815–1852, Reprint edition (Amherst: 
University of Massachusetts Press, 2015). 
8 “Day, Samuel Hall (1858-?),” Philadelphia Architects and Buildings, accessed November 20, 2019, 
https://www.philadelphiabuildings.org/pab/app/ar_display.cfm/22662. 
9 “Day, Samuel Hall (1858-?).” 
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this motif with brickwork that mimics a stepped-gable roofline (most often associated with 
Flemish architecture rather than either the Italianate or the Romanesque), exemplifies the spirit 
of Eclectic experimentation.10   
 
Oelschlager’s 1899 addition to the original church building is a sensitive, practical response by 
an architect who was just beginning his career. Oelschlager studied at the Pennsylvania 
Museum and School of Industrial Art from 1891 to 1893 and launched his own firm in 1897. 
According to the Philadelphia Architects and Buildings database, Oelschlager was “prolific,” 
completing at least 189 projects before retirement in the mid-1930s.11 At the Church of the 
Reconciliation, however, he did not try to upstage Day. As described in the previous section of 
this nomination, the northern façade makes every effort to repeat in compressed form the 
stylistic motifs of the western façade. The building and its extension form a whole through 
visual repetition of these motifs rather than any organic connection shared by the layout of the 
ceremonial and more informal parish spaces. 
 
  

                                                      
10 Kathleen Curran addresses how American architects of the late nineteenth century tended to isolate the round 
arch from the rest of the Romanesque style in “The German Rundbogenstil and Reflections on the American 
Round-Arched Style,” Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians 47, no. 4 (1988): 351–73, 
https://doi.org/10.2307/990381. The recently demolished Protestant Episcopal Italian Mission and Church of 
L’Emmanuello at 1020 Christian Street also featured a stepped gable. See  
11 “Oelschlager, Charles E. (Fl. 1891 - 1935/36),” Philadelphia Architects and Buildings, accessed November 20, 
2019, https://www.philadelphiabuildings.org/pab/app/ar_display.cfm/19007. 
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Figure 12. “Design X. Villa in the Italian Style,” from Sloan’s Homestead Architecture (1861). Note the rounded 

lintels of the window treatments.  
 

 
Figure 13. The Protestant Episcopal Church of the Saviour (now known as the Episcopal Cathedral of Pennsylvania). 

Designed by Charles M. Burns and constructed in 1889 [Wikipedia, 2010].  
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Figure 14. Sacred Heart Parochial School (1892-3) at 231 Reed St., designed by architect William P. Regan. The 

façade of this building, like that of St. John’s Baptist Church (1892) reduces the Romanesque Revival into an 
abstract linearity [Staff of the Philadelphia Historic Commission and Celeste Morello, July 2019].  
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7-2.  A Monument to "Christian Americanization” in South Philadelphia 
  

 
Criterion J: Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of  
the community.  

 
South Philadelphia has never been an exclusively Italian-American urban enclave, nor has it 
been exclusively Catholic. From the beginning to the end of the 1890s, the decade when the 
Church of the Reconciliation was constructed, the number of Italian immigrants to South 
Philadelphia increased 12-fold, from 1,193 to 14,540, but still there were more Russian and Irish 
immigrants than Italian immigrants in the area.12 The growing presence of immigrants to 
Philadelphia from southern Italy, however, represented a threat to a Protestant establishment 
in the city that feared “Romanism,” or the influence of the Catholic Church in the United States. 
Some members of this establishment reacted defensively and lobbied the municipal and federal 
governments for immigration restriction along nativist lines, an effort that eventually resulted 
in the quota-based immigration laws of the 1920s. Other members of this establishment, 
including Philadelphia’s Episcopalian and Baptist communities, organized to assimilate these 
immigrants into Protestant America by establishing missionary churches like the Church of the 
Reconciliation that would help to spread “American” (i.e. Protestant) values among the foreign-
born, a cultural platform that came to be known as “Christian Americanization.”13 The growth 
of these missionary churches was meant to stifle or at least offset the proliferation of Roman 
Catholic churches throughout Philadelphia, which an older generation of Italian-Americans had 
established around midcentury. Saint Mary Magdalen de Pazzi at 714 Montrose Street, 
established in 1852 by Saint John N. Neumann, was the first of this kind.  
 
Establishing Protestant missionary churches in the immigrant communities of Northeastern 
cities like New York, Boston, and Philadelphia often involved the support of a national and 
interdenominational coalition of Protestant leaders. When the Church of the Reconciliation 

                                                      
12 Murray Dubin, South Philadelphia: Mummers, Memories, and the Melrose Diner, First edition (Philadelphia, Pa: 
Temple University Press, 1996), 12–13. 
13 “A universal starting point for Protestants in any discussion of the foreign influx centered upon the widespread 
hatred of Catholicism. As the eighties merged into the nineties, disdain for the Church of Rome filled the hearts of 
‘liberal’ and ‘conservative’ alike, of the minority group of social gospelers and the majority of Baptists who 
preached an individual gospel. This rather common feature of the American tradition once again united with anti-
foreignism to form an insistent nativism, and the fear of Romanism helped lead Baptists to advocate shutting out 
those newcomers who revealed a fundamental inadequacy by clinging to the faith of their fathers. The prevalent 
habit of attributing ‘that which is great and good in our nation and its institutions to the spirit and enterprise of 
Protestantism’ made the arrival of large numbers of Catholics all the more alarming. Apprehension of the power of 
Rome now became overwhelming, and as Protestantism began to doubt its own viability, governmental barriers 
seemed the only solution.” Lawrence B. Davis, Immigrants, Baptists, and the Protestant Mind in America (Urbana: 
University of Illinois Press, 1973), 66. The standard work on nativism in this period remains John Higham, Strangers 
in the Land: Patterns of American Nativism, 1860-1925, Revised Edition (New Brunswick, N.J: Rutgers University 
Press, 2002). 
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opened in 1892, for example, Rev. F.H. Reynolds shared his pulpit with clergymen from all over 
the region. A newspaper reporter in attendance writes, 
 

Hundreds crowded the bright, warm interior, resplendent in its dainty dress of flowers and plants, during 
the morning to hear the sermon by Bishop William R. Nicholson, D.D., who spoke of the character, 
relations and spirit of the Church. The attendance was augmented at the afternoon meeting at which 
addresses were made by Rev. E.B. Bruen, Rev. J.R. Miller, D.D., of the Presbyterian denomination; Rev. J.B. 
String of the Methodist Episcopal; Rev. G.W. Folwell, of the Baptist, and Rev. E.R. Cassady of the Lutheran 
Church. Each was a kind tribute, irrespective of denominational differences, to the energy of the 
congregation which had reared this new home of the Gospel. There was Scripture reading, prayer, further 
addresses and singing, comprising a fine program. 
 At the evening service Rev. John De Peu, of the Congregational Church, at Norfolk, Conn., 
preached. During the present week, the evening sermons will be delivered successively by Rev. John Bliss, 
D.D., of Washington Heights, N.Y.; Rev. William Tracy of Christ Memorial Church, West Philadelphia; 
Bishop J.A. Latane, of Baltimore, and Rev. W.T. Sabine, D.D., of the First Reformed Church, of New York. A 
grand Sunday school rally has been arranged for Friday evening, at which Bishop Nicholson will preside 
and Rev. D.M. Stearns will speak.14 

 
As the surnames of these clergymen reveal, few of them were ethnically Italian. This lack of 
Italian-American clerical leadership may have contributed to the failure of the Church of the 
Reconciliation to sustain a vibrant congregation after the turn of the century, resulting in the 
sale of the building to The Baptist Union in 1921. The Italian Baptist movement, in contrast to 
the Episcopalian missionaries, included bilingual, Italian-American leaders like Rev. Alberto 
Chiera and Rev. Angelo di Domenica, the first two pastors of St. John’s Baptist Church. While Di 
Domenica was an ardent supporter of Christian Americanization, he also recognized that Italian 
immigrants did not want to sacrifice their ethnic identity in the process of becoming American. 
“I often hear people talk about the Americanization of the so-called ‘Aliens’ or ‘Foreigners’ and 
little do they realize that the real Americanization of these people can never be realized 
without the gospel of Jesus Christ,” di Domenica wrote.  
 

The word, ‘Americanization,’ is repulsive to the ears of the immigrants, because it carries with it the idea 
that the Americans are superior to them, and, as such, they are expected to adopt everything which is 
American. Even the word, ‘Christianization,’ is abhorred by them, because they think they are Christians 
by birth. But they do not object to the word, ‘Evangelization.’ They like this term better than any other, 
and this is shown by the fact that the Italians who are evangelized call themselves ‘Evangelicals’ and not 
Protestants.15 

 
The Italian Baptist movement in the United States expanded rapidly. According to di Domenica, 
the First Italian Baptist missionary work in America began in 1887 at the Mount Pleasant Baptist 
Church of Newark, New Jersey.16 The first Italian Baptist missionary work in Philadelphia began 
in 1891, when Antonio Pinto opened the Calvary Baptist Church, then located on Fifth Street, 

                                                      
14 “Dedicated to God and His Worship.” 
15 Angelo di Domenica, Protestant Witness of a New American: Mission of a Lifetime., First Edition (Chicago, 
Philadelphia, Los Angeles: The Judson Press, 1956), 73. 
16 Domenica, 31. 
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below Carpenter.17 Chiera was called to begin missionary work in South Philadelphia in 1907 by 
the Baptist City Mission Society and on May 4, 1909, he assembled the first Italian Baptist 
congregation in the Olivet Baptist Church at 6th and Federal Streets. From 1914 until 1921, this 
congregation, still without a permanent home, met at the old South Broad Street Baptist 
Church at Broad and Reed streets under di Domenica, who directed the Sunday school classes 
and instruction in the English language and American citizenship.18  
 
One reason for the rapid expansion of the Italian Baptist movement was that it was, from the 
beginning, transnational. The movement found a foothold in Italy prior to spreading throughout 
the United States. By 1870, members of the Southern Baptist Convention of America, including 
the Rev. George B. Taylor (former Chaplain at the University of Virginia), had begun missionary 
work in southern Italy. Antonio Mangano reported that by 1917, “the Baptist mission in Italy 
has 32 ordained Italian pastors, 46 churches, and 70 out-stations, with 1,362 members, 40 
Sunday-schools with 1,144 pupils, a theological seminary, two religious papers, and a monthly 
religious review.”19 Given the presence of Baptists in Italy, then, it is fair to presume that at 
least some Italian immigrants to South Philadelphia would have been familiar with the Baptist 
denomination prior to their arrival.  
 
The Italian Baptist movement also grew because it began to buy and build church buildings. By 
the beginning of the ‘20s, Di Domenica had become insistent that St. John’s Baptist Church—
itinerant for over a decade—required a permanent building. His rationale for building or 
acquiring a building was multifaceted. First, he believed that Italians were natural architectural 
enthusiasts. “It is deplorable to hear people say that anything is good enough for the Italians, 
just because they are foreigners and are poor,” he wrote. “But their foreign birth and their 
poverty cannot destroy the artistic temperament which is born in them. They are lovers of 
beauty and the fine arts.”20 Second, di Domenica believed that a multipurpose facility, including 
educational and healthcare facilities, was necessary to minister to the immigrant population 
and control the social life of Italian-American youth.  
 

The Italian young men of the South Broad Street section have no decent place for recreation, where they 
can meet and spend an hour in the evening. Saloonkeepers, corrupt dance halls, gambling places, pool 
rooms have attractive places for them, and they get them. The children of darkness in their generation 
are wiser than the children of light. If we had an adequate building, we could have a fine reading room 
where young men could go and spend their time in a wholesome manner; but so long as we do not have 
these things, they will go where they can find them.21 

 

                                                      
17 Domenica, 62. 
18 “St. John’s Baptist Church - About St. John’s,” accessed December 11, 2019, https://sjbc19148.org/about-st-
john-s. 
19 Antonio Mangano, Sons of Italy: A Social and Religious Study of the Italians in America (New York, Cincinnati: The 
Methodist Book Concern, 1917), 87–88, http://hdl.handle.net/2027/mdp.39015027007866. 
20 Domenica, Protestant Witness of a New American, 76. 
21 Domenica, 77. 
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Third, Italian Baptists required a building if they were to compete with Philadelphia’s Roman 
Catholic churches. In his memoir, di Domenica appears to have reproduced part of a sermon on 
this topic. He wrote, 
 

The superb buildings of the Roman Church in this country attract the attention of the people. That church 
never starts missionary work in a store. Oftentimes they begin to build a church and put a roof above the 
basement, where they remain until they have the necessary funds to finish the work. But they call that a 
church and not a store. Why do not the children of light learn how to do such things from the children of 
darkness? 
 Brethren: I want to be frank with you this afternoon. I want to tell you what I told our dear 
president in a private letter, that I left New Haven because of the greater opportunity which this field 
offers for a colossal Italian work. We cannot do the work if we do not have the tools to do it. If you will 
not give us the necessary tools, I fell that I cannot waste my time here. Are you going to continue to play 
with this hopeful and promising work, or are you going to do a work worthy of our Baptist denomination? 
‘Let us plan great things for God if we are to expect great things from Him.’22 

 
In 1921, di Domenica located an available church building and convinced Philadelphia’s Baptist 
Union to buy it. The Church of the Reconciliation became St. John’s Baptist Church and 
remained under the leadership of di Domenica until 1953 (Figures 15-17).23  
 
 

                                                      
22 Domenica, 83. 
23 “A real estate broker, Mr. Pasquale Del Vecchio, met me and asked if it was true that I was looking for a church, 
because he had a property located in our vicinity which was for sale. It was the Reformed Episcopal Church at the 
corner of Thirteenth and Tasker Streets. I went to see it immediately and became interested in the prospet of our 
buying it for our work. The Baptist Union bought it for $45,000 and spent $10,000 to remodel it for a Baptist 
Church. On March 22nd, 1921, the rededication of this church—and the chapel attached to it—took place. My joy 
and that of our congregation cannot be described in words. Two years later, a house next door to the church was 
bought for $10,000 and another $10,000 was spent for remodeling it and adapting it for our clinic and other 
activities of our Christian center.” Domenica, 111–12. 
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Figure 15. The congregation of St. John’s circa 1930 in front of the northern façade of the church loggia [author and 
exact date unknown]. 
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Figure 16. Inside St. John’s, facing westwards from the altar [St. John’s collection, date and author unknown]. Note 

the hammer beam timber truss. 
 

 
Figure 17. An obituary for Angelo Di Domenica, the second pastor of St. John’s Baptist Church and a co-founder of 

The New Aurora, an Italian-Baptist missionary journal that published in English and Italian [The New Aurora, 
Summer 1970].   
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7-3. Baptist Cosmopolitanism at St. John’s 
 

 
Figure 18. The display for “A House of Prayer for All People” at the back of the St. John’s Baptist Church, sometime 

after 1956 [author and exact date of photograph unknown]. 
 
In 1953, after di Domenica’s retirement, Rev. Anthony Vasquez became the third pastor of St. 
John’s. Three years later, Vasquez rededicated St. John’s as “A House of Prayer for All People” 
(Figure 18), a moniker inscribed on a panel display at the back of the sanctuary of St. John’s that 
was meant to celebrate the cosmopolitan and humanitarian values of the evangelical 
congregation. To memorialize these values, Vasquez led his congregants on world tours (often 
to Italy, perhaps not surprisingly; Figure 19) and began a multi-decade letter writing campaign 
in which he would contact political and religious leaders from around the world, express his 
congratulations or well-wishes, and ask for a flag or another kind of token that he could display 
on the “A House of Prayer for All People” panel (Figure 20). By 1956, there were 104 nations 
represented. A large collection of responses to these letters, written on official stationary, 
remain in the pastor’s office of St. John’s. Vasquez letter-writing campaign also included local 
political leaders, such as Frank Rizzo, the mayor of Philadelphia from 1972-1980.  
 
As an institution dedicated to cosmopolitanism, St. John’s should be understood as a response 
to the influence of Mussolini’s fascist regime on Italian-Americans during World War II and the 
growing ethnic self-consciousness of Italian-Americans in the postwar period. In the 1930s, the 
Fascist regime used Italian priests and parochial schools in the United States to help spread 
ethno-national propaganda, which local officials like di Domenica and Cardinal Dennis J. 
Dougherty, Archbishop of Philadelphia, tried their best to curb.24 In the postwar period, more 
progressive Italian-Americans struggled to dissociate their community from the Mafioso world 
of organized crime while also celebrating their Italian heritage. In 1961, for example, there was 
a successful campaign to rename Passyunk Square, located two blocks north of St. John’s 
                                                      
24 On the influence of Mussolini’s regime in Philadelphia, see Stefano Luconi, From Paesani to White Ethnics: The 
Italian Experience in Philadelphia (Albany: SUNY Press, 2001), 93. 
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Baptist Church, Columbus Square in order to celebrate the memory of the Italian navigator, 
Christopher Columbus, who discovered America.25 Throughout the Vasquez era and that of his 
successor, Rev. David M. Powles, St. John’s Baptist Church symbolized an alternative to ethnic 
militancy. When the demographics of South Philadelphia began to shift in the 1970s with the 
arrival of immigrants from Southeast Asia (especially from Vietnam and refugees from 
Cambodia), St. John’s welcomed them.26 Today, as the ethnic and socioeconomic demographics 
of South Philadelphia continue to change alongside real estate development, interim pastors 
Tony Campolo and Rev. Dr. Lyndell D. Backues lead St. John’s Baptist Church (Figure 21) and are 
trying to revive its dwindling congregation. The cosmopolitan tradition started under Vasquez, 
however, continues as the church hosts Indonesian and Burmese evangelical congregations on 
Sundays (Figure 22).  
 
  

                                                      
25 Luconi, 119. 
26 For one of the more recent analyses of the immigrant communities in Philadelphia, see Ayumi Takenaka and 
Mary Johnson Osirim, eds., Global Philadelphia: Immigrant Communities Old and New (Philadelphia: Temple 
University Press, 2010). 
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Figure 19. Rev. Vasquez’s commitment to world outreach. 
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Figure 20. The global and the local. Rev. Vasquez 

 

 
Figure 21. [Grace Maiorano, South Philly Review, February 2019]. 
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Figure 22. During the first two decades of the twentieth century, Rev. Chiera and St. John’s Baptist Church 

congregated in the buildings of more established Protestant churches. Today, St. John’s welcomes Burmese and 
Indonesian evangelical congregations into its building, continuing a South Philadelphia tradition. [Kevin Block, 

November 2019].   
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Appendix 

Included in this appendix are documents from "St. John's Baptist Church" file for the George D. 

McDowell Philadelphia Evening Bulletin Clippings collection held at the Special Collections 

Research Center at Temple University. 
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